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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Pluintift,

-against-
BRIAN R. REISS, : COMPLAINT

Defendant.

Plaintifl’ Securities and Exchange Commssion (“Commission™), for its Complaint

apainst defondant Brian R, Reiss (“Reiss™), alleges as follows:
SUMMARY

1 This action concemns a legal opinion letier business Reiss operates that
facilitated the fraudulent sale of scourities in vielation of the registration provisions of the
federal sceurities laws. On mulliple instances beginning in at least 2008, Reiss dralied
and executed legal opinion letters which caused the transfer agents o remove restrictive
legends on stock certificales representing shares of Intellect Neurosciences, Tnc. ("ILNS™)
and other publicly traded companies. Reiss used o website, 144letlers.com, to promote
his services. When he drafted and excented the legal opinion lelters, Reiss made

materially false and misleading statements and misrcpresented critical facts with no
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rcasonable basis, based on non-cxistent “investigations™ he claimed to have conducled.

2. The false and misleading stalements Reiss made in the legal opinion
letters he drafted and executed induced the transfer agents for [ILNS and other public
companies to remove the restriciive legends and permit the sale of shares o the public.
Reiss provided the Iegal opinion letters lo transfer agents who required assurances, in the
[orm of legal opinion letters, that the transactions qualified lor an exemption from the
registration requiremcnis under the federal securitics laws. With this assurance, the
transfer agents issued stock certificates without restrictive legends allowing the stock to
be traded freely, known as “free-trading™ stock.

3. Reiss knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that the sharcholders seeking
his opinion lelters intended Lo sell the stock on the public markets and that the transfer
agents would rely on his opinion letters to issue stock certificales without restrictive
legends. Rciss repeatedly drafied and exccuted opinion letters conlaining inaccurale
statements without making even a token inquiry, much less a reasonable inquiry, into the
underlying facts. Through his conduet, Reiss, dircetly or indirectly, engaged in acts,
praclices, and courses of business which constituted and, if allowed to mnlin.i.ae, will
consiitute violations of Sections 5(a). 5{c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933
{(“Securitics Act™) [15 LL8S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c) and 77q(a)] and Section 10{(b) of the
Sceurities Fxchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act™) [15 U.B.C. § 78j(b)) and Rule 10b-5
[17 C.FF.R § 240.10b-5] promulgated thereunder.

4. Reiss, unless enjoined by this Court. will continue to engage in the acts,
practices, and courses of business alteged herein, and in acts, practices and courses of

business of similar purport and object.



NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND RELIEF SOUGHT

3. The Comnussion brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred
upon it by Section 20(b) of the Secunties Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)] and Sectien 21(d) of
the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u{d}]. The Commission seeks an order to permanently
restrain and enjoin Reiss from violating Scetions 5(a), 3{c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c), and 77q(a}], and Scction 10(b) of the Lxchange Act |15
U.S.C. § 78j(b)} and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.E.R. § 240.10b-5[; from providing
legal services lo any person or entity in connection with an vnregistered offer or sale off
securities; and imposing a penny stock bar pursuant lo Section 20(g) ol the Sccurities Act
(15 U.S.C. § 77t(g)]. The Commission also seeks a final judgment ordering Reiss to
disgorge his ill-gotten gains together with prejudgment interest thereon, and to pay civil
money penaltics pursuant 1o Section 20{d) ol the Sceurities Act [15 U.S.C, § 77(d)] and
Section 21(d)3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)]. Finally, the Commission
secks any other reliel the Court may deem just and appropriate.

JURISMCTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has jurisdiction over thie action pursuant to Section 204d) and
22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §8§ 77t(d) and 77v(a)}, and Sections 21{d}, 21(e),
and 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 7T8u(c), and 78aan]. Venuc lics in this
Courl pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 ULS.C. § 77v(a)]. and Scctions
21{d), 21A, and 27 of the Fxchange Act [15 U.5.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u-1 and 78aa]. Certain
of the acts, praclices, transactions, and courses of business alleged in (his Complaint
peeurred within the Southern Thstrict of New York and were etlected, dircetly or

indirectly, by making the use of means or instrumentalities ol transportation or



commumication in interstate commerce, or the mails. During the time at issue, Reiss
dralted and execuled opinion letters relating to shares of companies based in New York,
New York, including ILNS, and provided services to shareholders based in New York,
New York, including an ILNS shareholder discussed herein.

DEFENDANT

T Reiss, age 59, resides in Huntington Beach, Calilomia. Reiss is an
attorney licensed Lo practice law in the state of California.

RELEVAN" yUERS

8. ILNS is 1 Delaware corporation headquartcred in New York, New York.

9, Hybrid Technologies (“Hybrid™), formerly a Nevada corporation, had
comumon stock registered with the Commission pursvant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange
Act.

10, PrimeGen Energy Corporation (“PrimcGen™), a Nevada corporation.
was incorporated in 2005 as Maysia Resources Corporation, and changed its name to
PrimeGen on August 29, 2006, PrimeGen's common stock was registercd with the
Commission pursuant to Scction 12(g) of the Exchanpe Act,

!: ! ! ‘:I \g‘
The Role of Transfer Agents

11. A core responsibility of a transfer agenl is to issuc and cancel a company’s
stock certificates o reflect changes in ownership. Geperally, stock issued in a public
offering registercd under the lederal sceurities laws 18 “unrestricted,” meaning that the
shares can be traded as frec-trading stock. On the other hand. stock issued not as part of a

public offering registercd under the federal securitics laws is “restricled,” meaning that it
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cannot be freely traded. 1'he restriction is usually reflected in the slock certificate in the
form of a stamped legend on the certificate. The lack of a registered offering means that
certain disclosure requirements and other saleguards required by the registration
provisions of federal securities laws have not been met. Shares represented by stock
certificates bearing restrictive legends cannot be traded as easily as shares represcnted by
stock certificates without restrictive legends.

12.  Before transfer agents will remove the restnetive legends and issue
unrestricled stock certificates in connection with an unregisiered sceuritics transaction,
many require a lawyer’s opinion explaining why it would be legal for the transfer agent
to issue unrestricled stock certificates.

13, Transler agents, and attorneys providing legal opinion letiers lo transfer
agents, lypically consider il relevant whether a shareholder is an affiliate of an issuer.
Sceurities Act Rule 144(a)(2} defines an “[a]n affiliate of an issuer |as] a person that
directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediarics, controls, or i5 controlled by, or
is under common control with, such issuer.” Although there is no statutory threshold, a
common benchmark for determining whether a shareholder will likely be deemed an
affiliate is if the shareholder owns 10% or more of an issuer's outstanding equity
securities.

14, II'a selling shareholder is an alliliate, the shareholder cannot scll the stock
unless the shareholder complies with the requirements ol Rule 144 of the Securities Act,
including satis(ying a holding period, volume limitation, manner of sale (i.c. whether a

transaction is through a broker), and filing Form 144 wath the Commission.
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144letters.com and Reiss’s General Operating Procedures

15.  Reiss is a sole practitioner whose legal practice is comprised almost
entirely of drafting and executing legal opinion letters. Reiss sct up, maintains, and
controls a website called 144lctters.com that promotes his legal opinion letter business.
The website offcrs “shareholder relations services”™ and notes “penny stocks nol a
problem.” From at least 2008 to 2010, the websitc advertised a $285 rate for each legal
opinion letter and also a “volume discount” rate of $195 per Jetter.

16.  Reiss steered potential customers (o his website by muking bids on scarch
terms through Google's AdWords. Reiss selected search terms designed 1o attract all
customers looking for an attorney to drafi and execute a legal opinion letter. Reiss paid
for 144letters.com to show up in search results for search lerms including “Rule 144,
“Resiricted Opinions.” “Restricted stock,” and “Rule 144 opinions.”

17.  Reiss relied on a computer-generated template to generate each legal
opinion letter. Using this template, Reiss only spent between 135 minutes to an hour
drafting cach opinion letter. Reiss’s legal opinion letters typically included a series of
facts and representations allegedly made by the selling shareholder. These purported
facts included statements relating to the seller's affiliate status, the history of the scller’s
ownership, and other facls relevant fo the analysis Retss purported to provide. In his
opinion leiters, Reiss rypically referred to all selling shareholders — whether male.
female, or a corporale entity — using the pronoun “'it.”

18.  Reiss considered the language in his legal opinion letters concerning the
affiliate status of the seller to be a “boilerplate statement.” and did nol oblain a writicn

representation from the scller, or even talk (o the scller, prior to including such a
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representation in an opinion letter. Reiss also typically did not take any steps to verily

whether the selling sharcholder seeking the opinion letler was an affiliate of the issuer.

from Providi

19.  InMarch 2006, OTC Markets Group Ine. (“Pink Sheets') sent Reiss a
letter stating that Pink Sheets “will no longer aceept legal opinions from you or your
firm.” Pink Sheets stated that the legal opinions Reiss provided to them “strongly
suggest that vou did not perform the legal work necessary to support the assertions made
in such opinions.” As detailed below, even after being banned by Pink Sheets from
providing legal opinions, Reiss continued (o write baseless and legally deficient opimon
lctters advising transfer agents that that the stock in question could be issued without a
restrictive legend, thus allowing the stock to be sold as free trading stock into the market.

Reiss’s False ILNS Opinion Letters

20.  In 2008, Reiss drafted and exccuted legal opinion letters for ILNS that

permitted the primary shaveholders of ILNS o sell sccurities which had previously been
restricted,

21.  ILNS’s public filings revealed that David Blech (“lilech™) provided [LNS
“signilicant consulting scrvices” and also “arranged for third partics to invest the majority
of the fundg™ ILNS received through al least 2008, These same public filings detaled
that Blech previously pled guilty to securities (rund and was barred [rom association with
a broker-dealer by the Commission for his activities as President of D. Blech and Co. in
the 1990s. [LNS’s public filings also disclosed that Blech’s wile. Margaret Chassman
{*Chassman"), held a significant percentage of ILNS's stock and that other members of

Blech's family had significant holdings as well. The Form 10-K for the year ending June



30, 2007, in fact, explicitly stated that Chassman owned 17.37% of ILNS’s ouistanding
stock and also stated that Blech’s other fumily members owned an additional 12.07% of
ILNS.

22.  Despite this publicly available information about Blech’s and Chassman’s
roles in ILNS, Reiss drafted and exccuted three opinion letters in 2008 that siated that
Chassman and Blech’s other family members were nof affiliates of ILNS. Reiss drafled
and executed these letters aficr Blech’s olfice contacted Reiss to obtain legal opinion
letters relaling to shares Chassman and two of Blecl's other relatives owned so that they
could sell them. 1he more than 4.7 million sharcs at issue in these requests represented
approximately 15% of ILNS’s outstanding shares. The requests for I;:ga] opinion letters
to Reiss did not make any representations regarding the affiliate status of Chassman and
Blech’s other relatives.

23,  On April 4, April 8, and May 5, 2008, Reiss drafied and execured opinion
letters for Chassman and Blech's relatives. Reiss stated that his legal conclusion, based
on the sellers’ representations and his “own investigation.” was thal the proposed sale of
shares “will be exempt from registration requirements” pursuant to Rule 144 of the
Securities Act

24, Reiss’s ILNS opinion letters contained false and misleading statements,
Retss’s claum that his legal conclusion was based on the selling sharcholders’
representations to him about their afTiliatc status was false. For example, the cpimon
letter Reiss drafled and executed on April 4, 2008 concernimg Chassman'’s sharcs said:
“Ihe Seller represents that it [sic] is not an affiliate or a control shareholder of the

Company [ILNS], and is not selling on behalf of an affiliate.” [owever, there had been



no representation by Chassman, Blech, or anyone else about Chassman's afliliate status.

25.  Reiss’s legal opinion letters were also false and misleading in that he
claimed his legal conclusions were based on his “investigation,” though he did not
conduact even a minimal investigation. In fact, Reiss took no sleps and failed Lo perform
any due diligence before drafting and executing the opinion letters for ILNS. For
example, Reiss did not even review ILNS’s public filings prior to issuing the opinion
letiers.

26.  In fact, a representation that the three sclling shareholders were nol
affiliates is false. Blech, Chassman, and Blech's other relatives who were sceking
opinion letiers from Reiss were all affiliates of ILNS, as defined by Rule 144(a)(2) of the
Securities Act.

27.  Blech was an atfiliate of ILNS because he, directly and indirectly,
controlled ILNS by providing ILNS with most of its [inancing, including arranging lor
third parties to provide the majority of ILNS's funds in 2008. Additionally, Blech
conlrolled transactions between ILNS and Chaséman. Specilieally, Blech imiated,
funded, and negotiated transactions with ILNS in Chassman’s name that resulied in
Chgssman‘s substaniial debt and equaty holdings m ILNS.

28, Chassman was an aflihiate of [LNS based on her own holdings, which
were disclosed in ILNS's Form 10-K for the vear ending June 30, 2007, to be over 17%
of TLLNS’s outsianding stock. Chassman was also an affiliate of ILNS because Blech
controlied her transactions, and she, therefore, acted as an intermediary between Blech

and 1T.NS. Additionally, ILNS relied on monies transferred from Chassman’s accounts to

fund its basic vperations.



29.  Blech’s other family members seeking opinion letters from Reiss were
also aftiliates of ILNS. Under Rule 144 of the Securitics Act, shareholders who are
controlied by the same person that controls the issuer are deemed affiliates of the
issuer. Here, because Blech also controlled his relatives’ accounts and all of their
transactions with ILNS, they were under common control with ILNS as well.

30.  Reiss’s failure to perform any basic due diligence before drafting and
executing his legal opinion letters was especially egregious as to his April 4, 2008
Chassman letter because the 2.8 million shares at issue in that opinion leller constituted
over 9% of ILNS’s outstanding shares and Chassman’s role at ILNS was highlighted in
ILNS’s public disclosures.

31, As Reiss knew or was reckless in not knowing, but for his legal opimon
letters, the transfer agent would not have issued the [LNS stock cerlificates withour
restrictive legends. Reiss’s invelvement in the (ransactions was necessury in order for the
shares to be sold as free-trading stock. By drafting, executing and providing his legal
opimion letters to [LNS’s transfer agent, Reiss participated in the unregistered sales of
ILNS securities,

32. Prior Lo this action. Reiss’s opimon letters concerning [L.NS dated April 4,
April 8, and May 5, 2008 led to transactions that the Commission alleged 10 have vielated
the federal securitics laws in SEC v Blech et ano., No. 12-3703, (S D.NLY. May 10,
2012),

Reiss’s Additional False Opinion Letters

33.  Reiss’s falsc and misleading legal opinion letters concerning [LINS were

nol isolated incidences. Reiss also dralted and executed false and mislcading opimon

1)



letters for Hybrid and PrimeGen. As detailed below, Reiss draited and executed each of
these legal opinion letters, which included false and misleading statements,
Hybrid

34.  Ilybnd's Form 10-K as of July 31, 2007 indicated that as of that date,
Eurolink Corporation (“Evrolink™) owned 14,691,254 shares, or 37.2% of the outstanding
common stock. of Hybrid and was Hybrid’s largest shareholder and beneficial owner.
Fven after Hybrid issued additional shares and subscquently announced a reverse stock
split on Janmary 19, 2008, Eurolink owned 2,098,751 sharcs, which was over 13% of
Hybrid’s outstanding stock.!

35.  Despite all of these public facts concerning Eurolink’s ownership position
i Hybrid, in 2008, Reiss drafted and executed two legal opinion letters stating that
Furolink was not an alfiliate or control 3hurﬁhnld¢11' of Fivbrid. Reiss rendered this
opinion withowt performing any investigation of the relevant facts and despite the
publicly disclosed fact that Eurolink was Hybrid largest shareholder as of July 2007 and
that by January 2008, Eurolink still held over 13% of Hybrid’s oulstanding stock.

36, In Aprl 2008, Lurclink's representative contacted Reiss Lo seek an
opinion letter permitting Eurolink to transfer 1,498,751 Hybrid shares, which constituted
9.5% ol Hybrid’s outstanding sharcs.

37.  On April 21 and April 22, 2008, Reiss dralied and cxecuted legal opinion

letters for Curolink. Reiss stated that his legal conclusion, based on the scller’s

represeniation and his “own mvestigation,” was thal the propesed sale of the shares “will

! A reverse stock split reduces the number of shares outstanding by a pro rata amount
across all sharcholders, For example, after o 2:1 reverse stock split a shareholder who
previously owned ten shares would own five shares,
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be exempt from the registration requirements™ pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act.

38.  Reiss's Hybrid opinion letters contained false and misleading statements.
Reiss’s elaim that his legal conclusion was based on the selling sharcholder’s
represcntations to him about its affiliate stalus was false. For example, Reiss's April 21,
2008 opinion letter stated that: “The Scller represents that it is not an affiliate nor a
control shareholder of the Company.” However, Reiss did not receive any
represeatations from Eurolink.

39.  Reiss’s legal opinion letters were also [alsc and misleading in thal he
claims his legal conclusions were bascd on his “investigation,” though he did not conduct
even a mmmmal investigatior. n fact, Reiss took no steps and failed to perform even
minimal due diligence before drafling and exceuting the opimion letters for Hybrid. For
example, Reiss did not cven review the Form 10-K filed for the period ending July 31,
2007, indicating that Eurolink owned 37% of Hybnd's stock.

40.  Reiss’s failure o do any due diligence is especially problematic because
his opinion leiter incorrectly suggests that at the rime, Durolink owned over 50% of
Hybrid, Reiss’s April 21, 2008 letter stated that stock at issue in his opinion concerned
8.6 million shares ol Hybrid and that the “[o]utstanding common shares” for Hybnd arc
over 15.6 million. Reiss’s letter was wrong because the letter incorrectly referenced the
pre-reverse stock split shares at issne when describing Eurolink’s holdings and the post-
reverse stock split shares when describing the outstanding shares, Despile that his own
opinion letier indicated that Eurolink owned over 50% of Hybrid’s stock, Reiss’s opinion
was premised on the purported fact that Furolink was not an affiliate of Hybnd.

41. As Reiss knew or was reckless in not knowing, but for his legal opinion



letters, the transfer agent would not have issucd the Hybrid stock certificates withoul
restrictive legends. Reiss’s involvement in the transaclions was necessary in order for the
shares to be sold as [ree-trading stock.
FPrimeGen

42, Reiss also 1ssued opinion letters that facilitated a promotional campagn
involving PrimeGen. In March 2009, Prime(en relained Wall Street Capital Funding
LLC {(“WSCF™), a stock promoter that earned compensation from repackaging
miformalion released by penny-stock cnmpﬁmies. WSCF assisted Pomelen in
disserminating over 150 investinent opinions. promotional emails, and lalse press releases
claiming repeated and switt success for PrimeGen in drilling oil wells in Russia. The
Commission sued WSCF lor ils participation in this promotional campaign. See SEC
Wall Street Capital Funding LLC, et al, No. 11-cv-20413 (5.D. Fla. Junc 10, 2011).

43, To compensate WSCI' for its services, PrimeGen armanged tor
intermediaries to transler shares to WSCE. The shares WSCH received were initially

issned by PrimeGen to a purported MNewis (West Indies) entity named Aquilla Finance

W

Capital Ltd, (“Aquilla™) as part of a block of 2005 million shares on March 16, 2000,
44, PrimeGen sent a letter to Reiss indicating thai the 20.5 million shares were
issued in exchange for a convertible note purportedly issued to Aquilla in March 2006
‘The letter was undated, was not on PrimeGen’s letterhead, and it included a “conversion
nohice™ sipned by Aquilla which merely repeated the same facts about the shares and
convertible note.
45, Despitc these red flags, and without doing any investigation, Reiss drafted

and excented a legal opinion letler on March 16, 2000 concluding that the PrimeCGen



shares “may be issued without restrictive legend, and these shares may be freely traded
per the provisions of Securities Act Rule 144(b)( 1), as amended, and [Section] 4(1) |of
the Securities Act].” Reiss wrote, “the Scller [Aquilla] represents that it has owned the

| PrimeGen] shares (o be issued and sold since [February 21, 2006] and thus is deemed to
have been the beneficial owner for a period of at least six months.” In his legal opinion
letter Reiss also referenced several other ropresentations from the seller |Aquilia] and
Reiss’s “own investigation.”

46.  The statements in Reiss’s March 16, 2009 opinion letter were false and
misleading. Reiss never spokc to the seller, Aquilla, and never reccived any wrilten
representations from Aquilla. Furthermore, despite Reiss’s reference in his letter to his
“own investigation,” he took no steps to verify the authenticity ol the documents
PrimeGen sent (o him or otherwise investigate the circumstances surrounding the
transaction about which he was providing a legal opinion.

47.  As Reiss knew or was reckless in not knowing, but for his legal opinion
letter, the ransfer agent would nol have issucd the PrimeGen stock certificatcs for the
shares Aquille was secking to sell withoul restrictive legends, Reiss's involvement in the
transactions was necessary in order for the shares to be sold as free-trading stock. By
drafting, executing and providing his legal opinion letlers to PrimeGen’s trunsfer agent,
Reiss participated in the unregistered sales of PrimeGen securitics.

Reiss’s Ongoing Conduct

48.  Reiss has been operating his business of drafting and executing legal

opinion letters since at least 2008 and continucs to do so to this day. Reiss dralted and

executed over 1,600 legal opinion letters between January, 2008 and December, 2010,
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and continues to provide legal opinion lellers for unregistered offerings and use

144lctters.com to promote his scrvices.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

CLAIM1
Vielations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act

49, The Commission re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 48, as though fully sct forth herein.

50.  On multiple instances, as more particularly described above, Reiss,
directly or indirectly, in the ofler and sale of the securilies described herein, by the use of
means and mstruments of transporiation and communication in inlerstate commerce and
by use of the mails, directly and indirectly, employed devices, schemes and artifices to
defraud purchasers of such sccurities,

51.  Reiss knowingly, intentionally, and/or recklessly engaged in the
aforementioned devices, schemes and arhifices to defrand. While engaging in the course
of conduct described above, Reiss acted with scienter, that is, with intent to deceive,
manipulate or defraud or with a severe reckless disregard for the truth.

52, By reason of the forcgoing, Reiss, directly and indircctly, has violated and,

unless enjoined, will continue 1o violate Section 17(a) of the Securitics Act [15 ULS.C. §

T7q(a)].
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CLAIM I
Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act
And Rule 10b-5 Thereunder

53.  The Commission re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 52, as though fully set forth berein.

54.  On multiple instances, as more particularly described above, Reiss,
directly or indirectly, by the use ol the means or instrumentalities of interstate commeree,
or of the mailg, or a facility of a national securitics exchange, in commection with the
purchase or sale of sccurities, knowingly or recklessly: (a) cmployed devices, schemes or
artifices to defraud; or (b) cngaged in acts, practices or courses of business which
operated or would have operated as a fraud or deceit upon purchascrs of the securities,
offered and sold by Reiss and other persons,

55.  As part of and in furtherance of this violative conduct, Reiss, directly or
indirectly, employed the deceptive devices, schemes, artifices, contrivances, acts,
transactions, practices, and courses of business and/or made misrepresentations and/or
omitted Lo state the facts alleged above,

56, The false and misleading statemcnits and omissions Reisy made were
material.

57.  Reiss knew, or was reckless m nol knowinp, that these material
misrepresentations and omissions were false or misleading,

58 The material msrepresentations and omissions were in connection with
the purchase or sule of sceuritics.

59. By virtue of the foregoing, Reiss, dircctly or indirectly, violated. and

unless enjoined, will again violate, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act |15 U.5.C. §

16
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78)(b)] and Rule 10b-3 thercunder |17 C.EF.R. § 240.10b-5].

CLAIM It
Violations of Section 5{a) and 5(c) of the Secnrities Act

60.  The Comnussion re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs |
through 39, as though fully set forth herein.

61,  The ILNS shares and Prime Gen shares Reiss offered and sold to the
investing .publiu constitule “securities” as delined by Section 2{a)(1) ol the Secarities Act
[15 LL5.C. § 77b(a)1}] and Section 3{a)( 1} of the Exchange Act [15 1UL.5.C. §
78c@)( 10)).

62. Mo repgistration statement has been filed or is in effect with the
Coommssion {or ILNS or PrimeGen pursuant to the Securities Act and no excmption
from registration exisis wath respect to the lransactions described herein.

63.  Reiss participated in the transactions described heren by dralting and
execuling opinion letters for [LNS and PrimeGen.

64 On multiple instances, as tnore particularly described above,
Defendant:

{a) made use of the means or instruments of Tansportation or

corununication in interstate commerce or of the matls 1o sell securities,

through the use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise;

(b} carried secuntics or caused such sceuritics to be carried through the

mails or in interstate commerce, by any meuns or mstruments of

transporiation, for the parpose of sale or for delivery after sale; and

{c) made use of the means or instruments of transportation or

communication in interstate commerce or ol the nuaals o ofler o sell or

t7



oller to buy securities, through the usc or medium ol any prospectus or
otherwise,
without a registration statement having been filed with the Comnussion as to such
securitics,
65. By reason of the loregoing, Defendant, divectly and indirectly, violated

Scections 5{a) and 5{c} of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e{a) and 77¢(c)|.
RELI OUGHT

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court enter a
Final Judgment:
. L

Permanently restraining and enjoining Reiss, his officers, agents, servants,
employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with them
who receive actual notice of the injunction by personal service or otherwise, and each of
them, from violating Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)| and Rule
10b-5 thercunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], Section 17(a) of the Securities Act |15 U.S.C
§ 77q{a)| and Section 5(a) and 3(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢(a) and
77e(e)].

Il

Permanently restraining and enjoining Reiss from directly or indirectly providing
professional legal services 1o any person or entity in connection with the offer or sale of
securitics pursuant lo, or claiming, an exemption under Sccurities Act Rule 144, or any

other exemption from the registration provisions of the Securities Act, including, without
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limitation, participating in the preparation or issuance of any opinion letter relating to
such offering or sale.
1.

Penmanently restraining and enjoining Reiss from participatimg in the offering ol’
any penny stock pursuant to Section 20(g) of the Securilies Act [15 U.8.C. § 771(g)| and
Section 21(d)6) of the Exchange Act [15 U.5.C. § 78u(d)6}).

1V.

Ordering Reiss to pay disgorgement. along with prejudgment interest, of all ill-
golten gains or unjust enrichment received as a result ol the conduct alleged in this
Complaint.

V.

Ordering Reiss to pay civil monetary penaliies pursuant to Section 20(d) of the

Securitics Act [15 U.8.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act {15 U.S.C.

§ 78u(d)(3)].
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VI.

Granting such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: New York, New York
March 7, 2013

Andrew M. Calamari
Regional Director
Sanjay Wadhwa
Associate Regional Direclor
Attomeys for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION
New York Regional Office
3 World Financial Center, Suite 400
New York, New York 10281
(212) 336-0181
Wadhwas(fisec. gov

Of Counsel:

Amelia A. Cottrell (Cotirellafsec.gov)
Charles D. Ricly (Rielye(@scc.pov)
Shannon A. Keyes (Kevessf@sce.gov)*

* not admited in Mew York
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